COMPLEX #8
THE J. MORTON POOLE & CO. MACHINE WORKS

Statement of Significance

Significant as an example of the machine manufacturing and metal
processing establishments that located along the Philadelphia,
Wilmington and Baltimore Railroad (PW&B) in Wilmington's Waterfront
Analysis Area during the nineteenth century, the J. Morton Poole &
Co. Machine Works pattern house (N-12465; see Figure 23, p. 130),
erected in 1874, is eligible for inclusion on the National Register
of Historic Places under Criterion A, buildings associated with
events contributing to broad patterns of history. Currently
standing alone on the block bounded by the AMTRAK Northeast
Corridor viaduct to the north, the Avenue of the Arts (formerly
Thorn Lane)} to the east, the Christina River to the south, and
properties formerly owned by the Harlan & Hollingsworth Co. (see
Complex #7) to the west, the Poole building illustrates the growth
of Wilmington's riverfront areas as a 1industrial corridor
throughout the nineteenth century. Once part of a complex that
stretched across the block directly to the east, the Poole pattern
house stands as the only building paralleling its appearance during
the period of its significance. Although additions to the building
dating to the late nineteenth century and the early 1900s no longer
exist, the building's current status more closely reflects its
construction as the only substantial brick industrial-related
building on the site in the 1870s. Established along the
riverfront area in the 1late 1840s, a period when industrial
concerns and commercial uses shared the Christina riverfront, the
Poole & Co. Machine Works pattern house contributed to the growth
of iron processing firms as one of the Area's predominant
industries in the late nineteenth century.

The Wilmington Waterfront Analysis Area describes 1land forming
portions of the Urban Geographic Zone (Zone V; see Figure 4, p. 9),
an area described by the City of Wilmington's corporate limits
according to the Delaware Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan.
However the Waterfront Analysis Area more accurately forms part of
the Cocastal Geographic Zone (Zone IV). Containing land bordering
major and minor streams flowing into the Delaware River and Bay the
Coastal Zone wetlands once supported a wide array of vegetation
including arrowarum, spatterdock, water-willow, smartweed, and red
and white oak marshes and waterways that provided shelter for
turtles, muskrat, wood ducks, great blue herons, ospreys, turkey
vultures and bald eagles in addition to many species of fish. Some
of these plants and animals may survive in eastern and southern
Wilmington where less-intensive development has occurred. Soils in
the Zone range from moderately well-drained and medium-textured
loam to tidal marshes. Extensive development activities, including
landfilling, has concealed much of the city's pre-colonial
riverfront. Forming an area surrounding the Christina and
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N-12458

Figure 23: Site Plan of Complex #8
The J. Morton Poole & Co. Machine Works and the Kent Building



Brandywine Rivers in Wilmington, the Waterfront Analysis Area
defines a discrete geographical area established by the City of
Wilmington's Office of Planning.”®

The J. Morton Poole & Co. Machine Works pattern house relates to
the historic theme Manufacturing (6D) during the period of
Industrialization and Early Urbanization (1830~1880 +/-) as defined
by the Delaware Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan.
Manufacturing establishments typically use power driven machinery
and/or handling equipment in the mechanical or chemical
transformation of inorganic or organic materials into new products.
These establishments function in buildings normally described as
plants, factories or mills.”” The period of Industrialization and
Early Urbanization (1830-1880 +/-) witnessed the establishment of
a great many manufacturing concerns in Wilmington reflecting a
variety of industrial endeavors following the construction of the
railroad through the zone.

Prior to the construction of the railroad, the Christina riverfront
primarily served as home to various commercial shipping lines and
wooden shipbuilders interspersed with related adjunct trades such
as ropewalks, ship carpenters, coopers, and brass founders. An
1814 city directory describes four ship carpenters, four coopers,
one ship chandler, one rope-maker, ten sea captains and three
watermen lived between Second Street and the Christina. George W.
Bush operated a freight and packet service from his wharf at French
and Water Street. William Warner operated a coal wharf on the
Market Street wharf. However, manufacturing activities in
Wilmington during the preceding period of Early Industrialization
(1770-1830 +/-) focused on grain milling along reaches of the
Brandywine River.

The construction of the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore
Railroad through the riverfront in 1838 refocused Wilmington's
industrial growth along the rail line and nearby land skirting the
Christina River. Providing access to faraway raw materials such as
iron, steel and coal, and distant trading markets, the railroad
spurred the settlement of foundries, machine shops, metal
processing firms, iron shipbuilders and railroad related
manufacturers. The PW&B, currently composed of the AMTRAK viaduct
that forms much of the western boundary of the Waterfront Analysis
Area, had a profound effect on Wilmington's industrial evolution
creating an industrial zone between the Christina River and 1its
tracks. Harlan and Hollingsworth (see Complex #7) opened their
ralilcar manufactory and iron shipbuilding firm along the Waterfront
Area in 1841. This firm actually began producing railcars in 1836
just north of the Area. Bush & Bonney's foundry commenced

7 Ames, et al., pp. 31-36.

7 Ibid., pp. 26, 36-37.
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manufacturing railroad car wheels in 1831. This firm became the
Lobdell Car Wheel, Tire and Machine Co. (see Complex #11), one of
the country's pre-eminent manufacturers of chilled cast-iron car
wheels. The Pusey & Jones Company established a foundry along the
Christina in 1848. The transfer of the Poole machine works from a
previous site along the Brandywine River to its current location
along the Avenue of the Arts documents the attractiveness of the
corridor defined by the railroad and the Christina River for
industrial development.’®

J. Morton Poole started his machinist's business in 1839 in the
basement of a textile mill along the Brandywine River belonging to
Joseph Bancroft. 1In 1848 Poole purchased a small building at the
foot of Orange Street near the location of the present building.
Two years later the 1850 Census of Manufactures described Poole as
a machinist employing 30 men. A steam engine using 200 tons of
coal powered Poole's manufacture of machinery worth $25,000. Poole
brought William T. Porter, a former apprentice, into the firm as a

partner in 1853. Construction of an elongated, one-story machine
shop occurred shortly thereafter in the block immediately east of
the pattern house (building #4 on Figure 24, p. 133). In 1860, J.

Morton Poole & Co., machinists, still employed 30 men but only 125
tons of bituminous coal were used during the manufacture of steam
engines and other machinery worth $30,500. Poole & Co. began
manufacturing chilled iron rolls used for grinding grain, and
making paper and sheet rubber, in 1867, a transition that proved
extremely lucrative to the firm.”

The 1870 Census of Manufactures provides an excellent view of

Poole's operation. One 30-horsepower engine drove a variety of
machinery including planers, 1lathes, shavers, drills, milling
machines, boring machines and a circular saw. Thirty-five men

fashioned wrought iron, bar iron and steel into lapidaries, two
steam engines and boilers and eight chilled-iron calendar rolls.
Poole & Co. also manufactured assorted mill gearing and shafting.
Total production accounted for over $60,000 worth of machined goods
and jobbing repairs. Within four years three additional buildings
were constructed including the three-story brick pattern storehouse
that now stands facing the Avenue of the Arts. The first floor of
this building contained a harness room and opened into a frame
stable attached to the northwest. An insurance survey undertaken
in 1877 stated that this opening would shortly be bricked shut (see
Figure 25, p. 134). At that time between 40 and 50 persons were
employed in the manufacture of chilled calendar rolls, "Babcock &
Wilcoxs' [sic] Patent Steam Engines," and boilers. J. Morton Poole

e Seely, pp. 1-19.

0w Conrad, pp. 375-76; U. S. Census, Manufacturing Schedules,
1850, 1860. Microfilm on file at EMHL; Hexamer General Surveys, No.
1157 (August 1877). Microfilm on file at EMHL.
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Figure 25: Detail of Poole & Co.
from Hexamer General Survey #2002
(Reprinted courtesy of the Eleutherian Mills Historical Library)
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died in 1879 leaving partner William Porter to become president of
The J. Morton Poole Co. Poole's two sons, Alfred D. Poole and J.
Morton Poole, Jr., joined the firm at that time. The Census of
Manufactures in 1880 continued to describe the firm as engine and
boiler machinists. However, chilled calendar rolls remained the
primary product accounting for most of the firm's $90,000 worth of
manufactures. The expansion of facilities undoubtedly allowed
Poole to increase production of chilled cast-iron rolls and to sell
their product throughout the world.®

The J. Morton Poole Co. manufactured chilled rolls and flour-making
machinery into the early part of this century. During the 1930s
the Wilmington Provisioning Company acguired the former Poole
property and buildings and established a slaughter-house. By the
mid-1950s the Zenith Meat Co., a subsidiary of the Safeway Stores
food-chain, occupied the building. The property formed part of the
A. R. Anthony & Sons Industrial Park in the early 1970s. The Grubb
Lumber Co. stored lumber and building materials at the complex
during this period. A fire in the buildings directly east of the
storehouse during the 1980s resulted in the demolition of the
northern half of the complex. The rehabilitation of the southern
half following the fire has resulted in buildings that do not
reflect their historic appearance or the size of the complex during
the period of their significance. Recent inspections found unsafe
conditions among buildings previously adjoining the storehouse
resulting in those buildings demolition. The storehouse remains
the only resource standing related to J. Morton Poole & Co.'s
association with the development of industry along Wilmington's
Waterfront Analysis Area reflecting the period of the complex's
significance.®

Related to the historic theme Manufacturing during the period of
Industrialization and Early Urbanization (1830-1880 +/-) the J.
Morton Poole & Co. Machine Works pattern house documents the growth
of the machine manufacturers and metal processing firms along
Wilmington's Christina River throughout the nineteenth century.
The construction of the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore
Railroad through the Christina riverfront created a prime
industrial corridor between the river and the railroad. Spurring
industrial development in the Area by providing access to far-away
raw materials and distant markets, the PW&B also became one of the
city's major consumers of manufacturers and one of its largest
employers. Wilmington manufacturers such as the Lobdell Car Wheel,
Tire and Machine Co., Harlan & Hollingsworth and Jackson & Sharp,
builders of railcars, and the Edwin J. Horner Car Spring factory,
found the PW&B a ready consumer of their goods. Established in the

8 y. s. census, Manufacturing Schedules, 1870, 1880C. Microfilm
on file at EMHL; Conrad, p. 375.

8 Franklin (1936); Sanborn (1956); Sanborn (1972).
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late 1830s, Poole & Co. first manufactured steam engines and
boilers and probably moved to the Christina riverfront from
quarters along the Brandywine in order to furnish his firm with
iron, steel and coal resources not easily accessible at their
earlier building. Poole & Co. switched their manufacturing focus
to the construction of chilled cast-iron rolls for paper and grain
mills in the 1860s. This shift in emphasis allowed Poole & Co. to
further expand facilities and begin selling their products in
international markets. Reflecting the rise of other metal
processing firms throughout the Waterfront Area, the Poole & Co.
pattern shop is eligible for inclusion on the National Register of
Historic Places under Criterion A, buildings associated with events
contributing to broad patterns of history.
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Architectural Description

The J. Morton Poole & Co. Machine Works (Complex #8) spreads over
two blocks south of the AMTRAK Northeast Corridor Viaduct along the
north shore of the Christina River. South Tatnall Street and South
Shipley Street respectively form the west and east boundaries of
the complex (see Figure 23, p. 130). A small former pattern
storage warehouse (N-12465) stands on the west side of Avenue of
the Arts amidst approximately 2.15 acres land strewn with brick
rubble and other building debris. Although encased by other
buildings when surveyed during the Phase I Reconnaissance Level
study of the waterfront area, demolition over the last year has
left the warehouse physically isolated.

Composed of a three-story, gable-roofed brick building parallel to
the wviaduct, the pattern warehouse (N-12465) exhibits an asphalt
shingle roof and a corbeled cornice with corbeled partial returns
(see Plate 24, p. 138). The building's main elevation faces east
overlooking the Avenue of the Arts and the recently constructed
Delaware Theater Company building. Three brick piers divide the
east elevation's corbeled, pedimented gable into four vertical
sections. Boarded windows with wood lintels flank the center pier
of the gable end. Five bays containing two boarded windows and
three pairs of diagonal board and batten loading doors with wood
sills and brick segmental-arch lintels pierce the second and third
story. Second story loading bay doors are slightly larger than the
third story loading doors. Four first-story bays contain concrete
block and brick covering former loading bays. The northernmost bay
has been enlarged in order to accept a modern garage door currently
sheathed by wood boards. This entry once possessed a sliding

exterior door. The upper runner for the door remains imbedded in
the wooden lintel.

The five bay wide south elevation faces the Christina River and the
rubble strewn lot. Window openings flank large central loading
bays on the first and second story. Segmental-arched lintels crown
loading bay openings. Pairs of iron hinge pintles survive on both
sides of the locading bays. Five bays penetrate the third story.
Brick fills first and second story openings while wooden boards
cover third story windows. An unsheathed opening in the third
story reveals the use o0of wooden frames and surrounds for sash

windows with brick sills and lintels. Stucco coats much of the
first story level.

A gable-roofed shaped scar composed of tar denotes the location of
an earlier one-story building previously attached to the warehouse
along its southern elevation. In addition to a steel post in the
southwest exterior corner of the warehouse, I-beam purlins and
ridge feet that once supported the south building's gable roof
survive imbedded in the brickwork underneath the scar. The scar
wraps around and continues along the west elevation. A wall plate
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Plate 24: South and east elsvations of the Poole & Co.
Pattern House (N-12465) looking north
(Photograph by Stuart Dixon)
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or girt attached to the warehouse's west elevation delineates the
position of the missing building's roof line.

A segmental arch lintel on the first story level of the west
elevation crowns a doorway partially enclosed with brick that

currently possesses a steel door. Stucco continues to obscure much
of the first story level. A two-story, gable-roofed shaped scar on
the north end of the west elevation indicates the position of
another previously attached building. A rowlock segmental arch
lintel capping a brick-infilled opening denotes where a previous
second-story entrance communicated between the warehouse and the
building to the northwest. Excavated purlin and joist pockets
surround the former entry in the warehouse's west elevation. The
roof scar of the northwest building extends approximately four feet
along the north elevation of the warehouse indicating that the
adjoining building wrapped around the north elevation as well.

Five upper-story windows and three second-story windows contain
wood board sheathing. A second story door opening, enlarged from
an original window and boarded on the interior side of the
building, exhibits evidence of a bridge that connected the
warehouse to a building to the north. Six-over-six wooden sash
penetrate the second story's eastern window. The first story
contains four window openings vertically longer than upper story
windows and one door. Brick, rebar and plywood covers the
openings.
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